Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0101

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Cause No. 24-0101

THOMAS C. WEINER, M.D.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

ST. PETER'S HEALTH, a Montana Domestic Nonprofit Corporation, d/b/a St. Peter's Hospital, WADE JOHNSON, JAMES TARVER, M.D., KERRY HALE, M.D., SHELLY HARKINS, M.D., TODD WAMPLER, M.D., RANDY SASICH, M.D., and JOHN DOES 1-5,

Defendants and Appellees.

On Appeal from Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis & Clark County Cause No. ADV 2020-1988, Hon. Mike Menahan, District Court Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(APPEARANCES ON NEXT PAGE)

APPEARANCES:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred granting summary judgment to Defendants on their immunity affirmative defense under the Health Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. § 11101, et seq. ("HCQIA") and denying Weiner's motion for partial summary judgment on the same issue.
- 2. Whether the district court erred granting summary judgment to Defendants on their HCQIA immunity affirmative defense on Weiner's claims based on Defendants' conduct outside any protection of peer review and in denying Weiner's motion for partial summary judgment on the same issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case.

This case, *Weiner I*, 1 stems from actions against Thomas Weiner, M.D. ("Weiner") by St. Peter's Health ("SPH"), CEO Wade Johnson ("Johnson"), Chief of Medical Staff James Tarver, M.D. ("Tarver"), Credentials Committee Chair Kerry Hale, M.D. ("Hale"), Chief Medical Officer Shelly Harkins, M.D. ("Harkins"), and SPH Medical Group's President Todd Wampler, M.D. ("Wampler") (collectively, "Defendants"). Weiner's *First Amended Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief and Damages* ("FAC") alleges wrongful conduct by

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ A second lawsuit, Weiner II, is currently on appeal in DA 23-0224.

Defendants arising from their adverse peer review actions targeting Weiner's medical staff privileges <u>and</u> their wrongful disclosures of protected information outside the peer review process. Dkt. 99, pp. 38-44.²

Weiner contends Defendants wrongfully terminated his employment in late 2020 to protect SPH's business interest in the treatment of oncology patients based on pretextual reasons and went to the press with false accusations to make sure his career was destroyed.

II. Procedural background.

Weiner I, filed December 10, 2020 (Dkt. 1), simultaneously sought a temporary restraining order preventing Defendants from filing an adverse action report with the National Practitioner Data Bank ("NPDB") based on Defendants' summary suspensions of Weiner. Dkt. 24. Defendants stipulated to a preliminary injunction. Dkt. 27.

Weiner filed his FAC on April 22, 2021 to conform allegations to evidence discovered after December 10, add a defendant, and add new claims—including to enjoin SPH from continuing its sham peer review process because of Defendants'

² This case does not concern anything that took place after April 22, 2021, including SPH's administrative hearing and appeal process. Weiner attempted to include those issues by moving to amend after their conclusion. SPH opposed and the court denied Weiner's motion. *Weiner II* challenges the administrative process and results.

multiple breaches of SPH's Bylaws and Johnson's improper statements to staff, patients, and the public preannouncing Weiner's guilt. Dkt. 99.

Weiner sought a second temporary restraining order. Dkt. 111. The court denied Weiner's motion without briefing—finding no irreparable harm—

permitting SPH to proceed with its administrative hearing and appeal process while
Weiner I moved forward. Dkt. 116. Weiner participated in SPH's process despite the
outcome being predetermined. Dkt. 150, 159, 167; see also Dkt. 291, pp. 16–20.

Six months later, January 6, 2022, while discovery in *Weiner I* was ongoing, SPH's Board affirmed Defendants' summary suspension and revocation of Weiner's privileges. It was only then, under SPH's Bylaws, that Weiner could "resort[] to formal legal action challenging the decision, the procedures used to arrive at the decision, or assert[] any claim against SPH or participants in the process." Plaintiff's Uncontested Statement of Facts in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment RE: HCQIA Immunity, Dkt. 263 ("SUF")³ Ex. 20, p. 48.

The following week, Defendants moved to lift the stipulated preliminary injunction claiming they were obligated to report their adverse actions against

10

³ The SUF is appended as Supp. App. 1. The exhibits are not included because some contain information protected by HIPAA.

Weiner to the NPDB. Dkt. 148. Weiner opposed, arguing a report based upon an alleged sham peer review would destroy his reputation and he was entitled to a trial on the merits before the preliminary injunction was lifted given the significant likelihood of harm. Dkt. 159.

On February 4, 2022, Weiner sought leave to file a second amended complaint challenging the administrative process and seeking to enjoin Defendants from filing an adverse report with the NPDB reporting the outcome. Dkt. 157, Ex. A. The court denied Weiner's motion, finding the amended complaint would cause undue delay and prejudice to Defendants because addressing the hearing and appeal process, which occurred well after the FAC was filed, would require Defendants to "conduct additional discovery in an unreasonably short period of time or vacate the current scheduling order and trial date causing more delay." Dkt. 168. That same day, the court granted Defendants' motion to lift the preliminary injunction. Dkt. 167.4

SPH then filed an adverse report with the NPDB—a "scarlet letter" but due to the rulings, after Weiner was foreclosed from challenging Defendants so-called

⁴ Notably, the court subsequently revised the schedule and vacated the trial. Dkts. 166, 177.

⁵ See Cole v. St. James Healthcare, 2008 MT 453, ¶23, 348 Mont. 68, 199 P.3d 810 (analogizing adverse action reports to a "scarlet letter" resulting in permanent harm to the physician).

findings from the administrative process in *Weiner I*. So, Weiner was forced to file *Weiner II* to challenge Defendants' then-final action.

On November 7, 2022, the court issued a wide-ranging order compelling discovery from Defendants regarding inadequate responses to 78 discovery requests, requiring Defendants to supplement and provide a detailed privilege log by January 6, 2023. Dkt. 217. Defendants did not timely or fully comply. Dkt. 297.

On January 11, 2023, Weiner noticed SPH's corporate deposition.

Defendants filed a motion to prevent the deposition. Dkt. 226. Discovery closed on January 20 and the motions deadline was February 24. Dkt. 177.

On February 8, 2023, while SPH's untimely and inadequate discovery supplementation was ongoing, and before the district court ruled on Defendants' motion for a protective order, Defendants moved for summary judgment arguing immunity from damages under HCQIA. Dkt. 249.

Weiner cross-moved, arguing Defendants are not entitled to immunity. Dkt. 260. Weiner also filed a motion for discovery sanctions for SPH's failure to comply with the court's order to compel. Dkt. 297.

SPH filed twelve motions in limine, Docs. 267-290. Weiner filed an omnibus motion in limine addressing six topics, including that "Defendants should be precluded from introducing evidence or making argument about the 'hearing'

Defendants conducted in June 2021, a year and one-half after the events relevant to this lawsuit," arguing the hearing and appeal were the subject of *Weiner II* and unrelated to Defendants' earlier decisions to summarily suspend and revoke Weiner's privileges. Dkt. 291.

Weiner requested a hearing on all motions. Dkt. 316. The court conducted a limited hearing on July 6, 2023 to address the summary judgment and discovery motions. *See* Transcript of Hearing (Jul. 6, 2023). The court ran out of time to hear arguments on the discovery motions. *Id.* The court never ruled on the discovery motions or motions in limine.

Despite the pending discovery motions and their potential effect, see id., p. 6, the court entered its Order – Weiner and St. Peter's Health Motions for Summary

Judgment Re: Health Care Quality Improvement Act, Dkt. 379 (App. 1).

Subsequently, the court, sua sponte, entered its Addendum – St. Peter's Health Motion for Summary Judgment Re: Defamation, Dkt. 380 (App. 2). The orders are collectively referred to as the "HCQIA Order." The HCQIA Order held

Defendants are immune from damages under HCQIA and dismissed Weiner's claims.

The court certified the HCQIA Order as a final judgment under Rule 54(b). Weiner appeals the HCQIA Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Background.

Weiner practiced oncology at SPH for 24 years. SUF ¶1. Weiner was recredentialed every two years. *Id.* ¶13. Weiner never had his privileges limited and his NPDB record was clear. *Id.* ¶14.

Despite Weiner's flawless record, SPH began targeting his employment in 2016. *Id.* ¶¶15-29. SPH faced embarrassing public backlash. *Id.* ¶19. Even the Montana Nurses Association responded: "Weiner puts patients before profits, benefiting our community, our patients, our staff and our community hospital." *Id.* ¶20.

Fed up with SPH's antics, Weiner threatened to resign in April 2020. *Id*. ¶30. In response, Wampler, Harkins, Johnson, and others met to "discuss" Weiner. *Id*. ¶31. The results of the meeting are unknown; this secret meeting was discovered through an email from an SPH employee after Weiner's termination that was withheld until the court ordered its production:

```
4/10/20—9-10am Meeting: "Discussion – Dr. Weiner"- In response to Dr. Weiner's Email of resignation.

Invited: Kendra Lenhardt, Brian Lee, Todd Wampler, Shelly Harkins, John Cassani, Andrea Groom, Wade Johnson
```

*** unsure of the outcome- that would be tracked by Medical Group

Id.

On September 10, 2020, Benefis Health System announced its intent to construct a medical clinic in Helena. *Id.* ¶32. Benefis will compete with SPH in medical oncology. *Id.* Because Weiner was not under a non-compete, he could have moved his practice and patients elsewhere, including Benefis. *Id.* ¶33. Defendants needed to not only terminate Weiner but destroy his ability to practice medicine to end his threat of competition. Shortly after Benefis' announcement, they did just that.

II. First summary suspension of Weiner.

Eighteen days after Benefis' announcement, SPH's Credentials

Committee ("CC")—with Hale in charge and Tarver participating—initiated an investigation into Weiner's medical practice. SUF ¶34. The CC retained the Greeley Company to conduct external reviews of random and hand-selected samples of Weiner's patients. *Id.* The CC instructed Hale to meet with Johnson, Harkins, and "the attorney" (referring to SPH's attorney) to coordinate a plan to suspend Weiner. *Id.* ¶37. The meeting minutes state: "[t]he group agreed that a conversation needed to occur between administration and Weiner to discuss a particular oncological patient [(Patient 1)] and hear what Weiner had to say about it." *Id.* The administration never had that discussion with Weiner. *Id.*

Two days later, the CC conducted a "follow up" meeting. *Id.* ¶¶38-41. Weiner was not invited. *Id.* ¶41. The CC voted to summarily suspend Weiner's privileges even though the Bylaws do not give the CC authority to summarily suspend and require a physician be given notice and an opportunity to discuss, explain, or refute evidence before affecting privileges. *Id.* ¶¶44-45.

Nonetheless, the next day, October 15, Tarver and Hale presented Weiner with a "Notice of Summary Suspension and Investigation" summarily suspending his privileges based upon a single external review of an unidentified oncology patient out of the thousands he had treated. *Id.* ¶46.

Even though the CC previously agreed the Bylaws required a discussion with Weiner before affecting his privileges, Weiner was never: 1) interviewed; 2) provided notice; or 3) provided opportunity to address the allegations prior to suspension. *Id.* ¶¶41-42, 47. There was no investigation other than the external review. The CC did not speak to any physicians, nurses, or staff members in SPH's Cancer Treatment Center ("CTC") to assess any allegations. *Id.* ¶43. The decision to suspend Weiner relied solely on the external review. *Id.* ¶48. The medical records provided to the external reviewer were incomplete, omitting critical records confirming that the patient had cancer and was referred to Weiner for treatment. *Id.* ¶51.

Before issuing the summary suspension, Tarver did not discuss Patient 1 with Weiner, did not do anything to confirm the external reviews accuracy, did not know if the external reviewers were provided complete medical records, and did not speak with the physician who discussed biopsy results with the pathologist and then referred Patient 1 to Weiner for treatment. *Id.* ¶¶49-50. He relied solely on the external review. *Id.*

The <u>only</u> basis for a summary suspension without notice under SPH's Bylaws is when "failure to take such action may result in an imminent danger (i) to the health and/or safety of another; or (ii) the continued effective operation of SPH." *Id.* ¶53. The summary suspension letter made no such findings. *Id.* ¶55. Also, despite Defendants' *post hoc* claims of imminent danger, the letter was not delivered until the end of the day on October 15—after Weiner treated patients for an entire day. *Id.* ¶54.

SPH's letter offered an alternative to summary suspension: Weiner could voluntarily refrain from exercising his privileges. *Id.* ¶56. Tarver and Hale instructed Weiner to decide immediately but did not provide him with an opportunity to address his care of the patient and or explain how Weiner posed an imminent danger. *Id.* ¶57. At Tarver's recommendation, and given the risk to his reputation, Weiner agreed to refrain. *Id.* ¶59.

Days later, Tarver and Hale, relying on advice of SPH's counsel (not the medical staff's counsel), advised Weiner he was not summarily suspended, but the CC would investigate his practice. *Id.* ¶60. They told Weiner the CC would provide advanced notice and "sufficient information, including patient names and the results of Greeley's reviews, to meaningfully discuss these issues with the [CC]." *Id.* Tarver instructed Weiner must be provided sufficient information "so he would be able to explain his care [.]" *Id.*

SPH's attorney (now counsel of record) confirmed Weiner was on "a voluntary leave of absence <u>unrelated to clinical competency issues</u>," not summary suspension. *Id.* ¶61. A physician on voluntary leave must request reinstatement of privileges before returning to practice. *Id.* ¶63. The CC, the Medical Executive Committee ("MEC"), and the Board review those requests. *Id.*

III. Second summary suspension.

As of November 12, 2020, Weiner had not practiced for a month and could not exercise his privileges. *Id.* ¶64. Weiner continued to refrain from practicing and did not request reinstatement. *Id.*

According to Johnson and the Bylaws, SPH's physicians "govern and regulate themselves." *Id.* ¶65. It is improper for SPH's administrators to investigate quality of care by a physician; "[t]hose are initiated and conducted by the medical

staff." *Id.* Administrators may not send cases to outside peer review "[b]ecause that's the medical staff. That's their governance function." *Id.* ¶66. The independence between medical staff and administration is "significant" and "there has always been a very clear delineation in that regard." *Id.*; *see also Cole v. St. James Healthcare*, 2007 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 675, ¶¶18-27, aff'd, 2008 MT 453 (holding hospital administrators may not conduct peer review). Despite affirming administrators may not inject themselves into peer review, Hale confirmed "SPH administration also sent five additional cases for external review." SUF, ¶68.

The results from the administration's reviews were sent to Tarver and Hale on November 15. *Id.*, ¶71. On November 16, Hale, Tarver, and Johnson addressed those reviews. *Id.* ¶72. Tarver wanted the reviews "made available to the [CC] to make sure that it was dealt with from the corrective action standpoint in the proper manner." *Id.* Yet, Hale, Tarver, and Johnson usurped the CC by summarily suspending Weiner's privileges based on the review of Patient 1 and the administration's additional reviews. *Id.* ¶73.

Hale did not know why the administration selected cases for external review. *Id.* ¶68. Tarver did nothing to confirm the reviews were accurate, relying solely on the administration's reviewers and whether they felt the care was within the standard. *Id.* ¶¶52, 74. He again did not know what medical records were sent to

the reviewers. *Id.* He did not know SPH was still treating one of the patients with the identical agent that Weiner was criticized for. *Id.* He was not aware of—and did not know whether the reviewers were aware of—pertinent facts related to the treatment of the other five patients that directly contradicted the external reviews' criticisms. *Id.* ¶52.

Nonetheless, on November 17, while Weiner could not practice medicine, the three summarily suspended Weiner again. *Id.* ¶¶72-73.

The second suspension was entered without notice or hearing. *Id.* ¶76. SPH's administration conducted the investigation even though such involvement is prohibited. *Id.* ¶¶65-71. This time, the suspension letter claimed Weiner posed an imminent danger to patients but failed to explain how. *Id.* ¶77.

Defendants subsequently claimed they re-suspended Weiner because he was directing care through nurses while on leave. *Id.* ¶¶80-82. They admittedly had no factual basis for that claim. *Id.* ¶83. Every nurse testified to the contrary. *Id.* ¶84.

Hale admitted the real reason for Weiner's second suspension: **not wanting** it to linger over the holidays (Thanksgiving and Christmas). *Id.* ¶78.

Wampler terminated Weiner's employment that same day due to the summary suspension. *Id.* ¶86.

IV. Defendants' post-suspension actions.

That evening, Johnson, Harkins, and Wampler met with CTC staff. They disclosed confidential peer review information, including claiming Weiner was prescribing chemotherapy to patients who did not have cancer (based on the incomplete review of Patient 1). *Id.* ¶¶130-135. Defendants admit SPH's staff and nurses are not part of any SPH peer review committee. *Id.* ¶132.

On November 23, the CC conducted another meeting with Hale and SPH's lawyer to establish a plan for revoking Weiner's privileges. *Id.* ¶88. Hale claimed two oncology locums covering in Weiner's absence would not return because "[t]hey are scared of the care that has been provided and are worried about their licensing." *Id.* ¶89. Hale subsequently admitted she had no evidence to support that claim. *Id.* ¶90.

Hale also provided an update on Greeley's external reviews, reporting: "She felt their findings were clear. The findings stated that the provider has excessively productive cases and the care provided was okay." *Id.* ¶91. Despite Greely reporting Weiner's care was "okay," Hale later drafted a report stating, "[t]he reviews showed substandard care for approximately 10% of the randomized cases." *Id.* ¶92-93. The inaccuracy of Hale's report is addressed below.

Weiner's first opportunity to defend himself occurred November 24, during a remote MEC meeting addressing the second summary suspension. *Id.* ¶107. The only information provided to Weiner before this informal meeting was partial medical records and outside reviews for six patients. *Id.* ¶105. The MEC did not investigate whether Weiner should be summarily suspended; it relied solely on information provided by the CC. *Id.* ¶106.

Nobody presented evidence or explained how Weiner presented an imminent danger to patients—the sole basis for a summary suspension. *Id.* ¶108. Tarver instructed: The MEC "will determine whether the suspension will continue, be modified, or be terminated. Weiner's presence is intended to allow the MEC to consider relevant facts in determining the next steps of the suspension...." *Id.* ¶109. Despite SPH's attorney's attendance, Weiner was not permitted representation. *Id.* ¶¶112, 114.

Weiner addressed the patients identified as best he could with the limited information provided to him. *Id.* ¶110. Tarver did know if Weiner and the reviewers were provided the same medical records. *Id.* Only one member raised a concern with Weiner about his explanation of a case. *Id.* ¶113. The MEC did not check with the external reviewers to determine whether Weiner's explanations changed their opinions. *Id.*

The next day, Weiner received a letter upholding the second summary suspension. *Id.* ¶115. The letter did not explain how Weiner presented an imminent danger to patients while he was on voluntary leave. *Id.*

The second time Weiner was given an opportunity to defend himself was a November 30 meeting of the CC, when it recommended revocation of Weiner's medical staff membership and privileges. *Id.* ¶116. SPH's attorney attended, but Weiner was not allowed representation. *Id.* ¶119.

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