07/29/2024

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0101

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Case No. DA 24-0101

THOMAS C. WEINER, Plaintiff – Appellant,

V.

ST. PETER'S HEALTH, a Montana Domestic Nonprofit Corporation d/b/a St. Peter's Hospital, WADE JOHNSON, JAMES TRAVER, M.D., KERRY HALE, M.D., SHELLY HARKINS, M.D., and TODD WAMPLER, M.D., Defendants – Appellees.

On Appeal from Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis & Clark County Cause No. ADV 2020-1988, Hon. Mike Menahan, District Court Judge

APPELLEES' AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

Attorneys for Appellees:

Michael J. Miller
Kathleen Abke
Axel Trumbo
STRONG & HANNI

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

Here, a reasonable reviewer could clearly conclude that the actions against Weiner were warranted and furthered quality care. An external review confirmed the PRC's conclusion that Weiner had treated for eleven years without adequately confirming malignancy, and that the chemotherapy likely led to his death. (Doc. 263, Ex. 67, p. SPH_000254, 263.) And several other cases caused the PRC to ask the CC for corrective action because the physicians were "genuinely

concerned about patient safety." (Doc. 251, Ex. 44.) The November 2020 suspension letter detailed highly worrisome chronic-pain cases and other matters. (Doc. 263, Ex. 11.)

In response, Weiner argues the peer review was merely a "sham" designed to address Benefis Health System's announcement of a competing clinic. (Weiner Brief, p. 15, 36 n.6.) However, the investigation began many months before Benefis's announcement (Doc. 263, Ex. 28, p. SPH_001092), and the evidence shows only proper motives (Doc. 263, Exs. 22–28). Weiner doesn't present anything other than suspicion and conjecture. *See Kostelecky v. Peas in a Pod LLC*, 2022 MT 195, ¶ 37, 410 Mont. 239, 518 P.3d 840. Furthermore, allegations of "bad faith" are immaterial to the objective standard. *Austin*, 979 F.2d at 734.

2. All claims are "with respect to" the professional review actions

The Court should hold that all claims fall within the scope of HCQIA immunity and were correctly dismissed.

Weiner believes portions of Counts III–IX survive HCQIA immunity, insofar as they allege disclosure of information about his professional-review actions to others. He specifically criticizes two events: (a) an update to the CTC staff in a meeting on November 17, 2020, and (b) a disclosure about Weiner to the staff, patients, and public on December 7–8, 2020. (Weiner Brief, pp. 21, 23–24.)

However, even these portions of the claims fall within the scope of HCQIA

immunity, which applies to all damages "with respect to" the professional-review actions. 42 U.S.C. § 11111(a)(1). "Professional review action" includes all related "professional review activities," 42 U.S.C. §§ 11111(a)(1), 11151(9), such as conduct related to the investigation, *Austin*, 979 F.2d at 737. And the phrase "with respect to" means "with reference to," "concerning," or "relating to." ⁴ Therefore, Weiner's damages are barred if they are with reference to or relate to the professional review actions or related activity. Weiner's alleged damages are barred.

November 17, 2020. Clearly, when Weiner was suspended on November 17, SPH had to announce it to his staff. He was the only oncologist, and he "did not practice in a vacuum," having about twenty nurses. (*Id.* p. 37, 604–05.) The staff would have questions, and they would have to field questions from patients and the public. Why is Weiner gone? What did he do? Should we postpone appointments? Is he coming back? Do we need to make changes to patients' treatment? SPH had to decide what information concerning the professional-review action was appropriate to disclose. This difficult-but-unavoidable task was a necessary part of the suspension.

The Fourth Circuit agrees that "announcement of a change in a physician's status is inherently part of the 'professional review action' protected by the HCQIA."

⁴ Respect, Merriam-Webster.com, at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/with%20respect%20to; Concerning, Merriam-Webster.com, at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/concerning.

Gabaldoni, 250 F.3d at 260 n.4. In Gabaldoni, the physician alleged breach of the bylaws for his termination and for "disseminating information to hospital personnel and third parties regarding the same." *Id.* at 259. He argued that this dissemination wasn't immune, but the court disagreed. *Id.* at 260 n.4. Announcements are part of the process, and they are categorically "covered by the broad grant of immunity." *Id.* This holding makes sense because, if it were otherwise, there would be frequent damages claims regarding alleged breach of confidentiality, thereby undermining HCQIA's purpose of shielding reviewers from damages.

Furthermore, in November 2020, SPH committees were investigating potential revocation. And Weiner alleges that SPH Defendants asked the staff to bring forward information about substandard care. (Doc. 263, p. 33.) This alleged conduct constitutes investigation, and to effectively vet and gather related information, they would necessarily have to explain what the allegations are.

December 7–8, 2020. Under the same reasoning, SPH's announcements on December 7–8 to the staff, patients, and public fall within HCQIA immunity. SPH recognized that the staff was "on the front lines . . . answering phones and interacting frequently with patients." (Doc. 263, Ex. 38.) It therefore sent them answers to Frequently Asked Questions and told them to "stay to the below script and don't comment any further." (Id.) (emphasis added). The substance of the FAQs was also published in the local newspaper and in a letter to patients. (Id., Exs. 37, 39.) This

conduct is a clear attempt to control what information gets disclosed about Weiner's suspension and to minimize ad hoc answers by staff to the patients' and public's frequently asked questions. These efforts resulted directly from, and were an inherent part of, the professional-review action.

Remember, in *Gabaldoni*, the plaintiff alleged disclosures to "third parties," but the court recognized that such announcements were an inherent part of the professional-review action and protected. *Gabaldoni*, 250 F.3d at 259, 260 n.4. Indeed, it would be extraordinary to conclude that SPH couldn't inform the CTC patients about potential concerns with their treatment. Nor would the immunity be a persuasive incentive for participation if inevitable announcements and answers to questions were a minefield that could expose reviewers to damages.

The Court should hold that all of Weiner's claims are barred.

II. THE SPH DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT ON ANY REMAINING CLAIMS

If the Court concludes that a portion of Weiner's claims survives HCQIA immunity, the Court should affirm dismissal of the claims on any proper basis, *Mountain Water Co.*, 2020 MT 194, ¶ 42, including the following.

1. Breach of Contract

Weiner's breach-of-contract claim concerns both his employment contract and the bylaws. We address each.

Employment. The employment contract clearly says Weiner's employment

shall immediately terminate if his Medical-Staff membership or clinical privileges are suspended. (Doc. 263, Ex. 1, pp. 5–6.) If a contract is clear, a court interprets it as a matter of law and "appl[ies] the language as written." *Richards v. JTL Grp.*, *Inc.*, 2009 MT 173, ¶ 13, 350 Mont. 516, 212 P.3d 264 (citation omitted). There's no dispute that Weiner was suspended on November 17, 2020, so the immediate termination couldn't be a breach.

Bylaws—*Individuals.* Per *Hughes v. Pullman*, bylaws are not enforceable contracts between individual physicians because "there is clearly no consideration." 2001 MT 216, ¶¶ 33−35, 306 Mont. 420, 36 P.3d 339. Under the reasoning in *Hughes*, the Court should affirm dismissal against each defendant other than SPH.

Bylaws—*SPH.* Weiner argues that HCQIA doesn't bar damages for disclosed peer-review information. (Weiner Brief, p. 46.) Even if true, the claim fails.

Weiner relies on M.C.A. § 50-16-203, which says that "[a]ll proceedings, records, and reports of committees are confidential and privileged." However, the statutory confidentiality and privilege don't belong to the reviewed physician but instead to "all members of the Committee as well as to the patients whose cases are reviewed." Sistok v. Kalispell Reg'l Hosp., 251 Mont. 38, 823 P.2d 251, 253–54 (1991), partially overruled on other grounds by Huether v. Dist. Ct. of Sixteenth Jud. Dist. of State of Mont., In re Cnty. of Custer, 2000 MT 158, ¶¶ 19, 21, 300 Mont. 212, 4 P.3d 1193). This is why, when the Court considered who must consent to

waiver of the privilege, it listed only the committee members and the patient, not the physician. *See id.* Furthermore, before the alleged disclosures, estate was already making allegations of malpractice regarding death. (Doc. 377.)

2. Breach of the Implied Covenant

The Court should affirm any remaining portions of the implied-covenant claim for the following reasons.

Employment. The employment contract contains an express provision permitting Weiner's immediate termination if his privileges are suspended. This is dispositive because the covenant of good faith cannot prohibit a party from doing what the agreement expressly permits. *Farris v. Hutchinson*, 254 Mont. 334, 838 P.2d 374, 376–77 (1992).

Bylaws—Individuals. There can be an implied-covenant claim only if there's an "underlying, independently enforceable contract." House v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Assoc., 2021 MT 45, ¶ 23, 403 Mont. 287, 481 P.3d 820. The individual defendants don't have an enforceable contract with Weiner, see supra, so they cannot have breached an implied covenant.

Bylaws—SPH. The implied-covenant claim fails for the same reasons the breach-of-contract claim fails: The confidentiality right belongs to others.

3. Wrongful Termination

Weiner's claim under the wrongful-discharge statute fails because the statute

doesn't apply to a contract "for a specific term," M.C.A. § 39-2-912(2) (2020), and Weiner's contract was for a specific term ending May 31, 2020, with up to four renewal terms. (Doc. 263, Ex. 1, p. 1, attachment A.)

Weiner argued that the agreement wasn't for a specific term because it contained renewal terms. (Doc. 309, p. 17.) But in *Farris*, this Court considered a professional-employment contract that had an initial term of "one year" and "provided for non-renewal with adequate notice," and the Court held that the contract was "for a specific term as contemplated under the Act." 838 P.2d at 375, 378. Weiner's claim fails.

4. <u>Interference with Prospective Business Advantage</u>

Weiner contends that HCQIA doesn't bar the portions of his claims that seek to recover for disclosure of information. If true, one portion of the interference claim would survive: the allegation that the defendants disclosed information with the intent to harm his ability to practice at a competing clinic. (Doc. 105, p. 41.) Nevertheless, the district court correctly dismissed this allegedly remaining portion as unsupported.

A claim "must give notice to the other party of the facts which the pleader expects to prove." *Mysse v. Martens*, 279 Mont. 253, 926 P.2d 765, 773 (1996). Weiner's complaint, however, doesn't allege that he attempted to join a competing clinic or suffered interference. (Doc. 105, p. 41.) At most, Weiner implies that he

could have joined Benefis, who announced a clinic in Helena. (*Id.* p. 11.) Therefore, the question was whether Weiner could support such an implication. Weiner included evidence of Benefis's announcement (Doc. 263, Ex. O), but the SPH Defendants countered with undisputed evidence that Weiner never applied to work there. (Doc. 340, Ex. FF.) The district court correctly dismissed Weiner's interference claim as unsupported by evidence of harm. (Doc. 379, p. 27.)

5. Defamation

We agree with the district court that no reasonable jury could find the SPH Defendants' statements were false, and we incorporate its analysis here. (Doc. 380.) Both parties inundated the court with materials from the professional-review action, and these insurmountably confirmed the truth of the defendants' statements. "[I]f the evidence is so overwhelming that any other conclusion would be unreasonable," then "the court is afforded the discretion to make a proper finding" that the statements were "essentially truthful." *Hale v. City of Billings, Police Dept.*, 1999 MT 213, ¶¶ 17–18, 295 Mont. 495, 986 P.2d 413.

We also advance these alternative bases to affirm:

No malice. Weiner was a public figure regarding his status at SPH. As early as 2016, the public cared deeply about Weiner's continuance at SPH. (Doc. 263, Exs. D–F.) Inevitably, the corrective actions sparked public outcry and debate. (Doc. 263, Ex. K.) Weiner invited public attention in his publication on December 6, 2020.

(Doc. 336, Ex. 2.) Weiner was therefore a public figure and must prove the SPH Defendants knew their statements were false or "entertained serious doubts as to the truth." *Planet Aid, Inc. v. Reveal*, 44 F.4th 918, 928 (9th Cir. 2022). Weiner failed this test because he didn't present evidence that the defendants knew or suspected any falsity, and HCQIA imposes an unrebutted presumption of "reasonable belief" that the actions were justified and furthered quality care. 42 U.S.C. § 11112(a).

Opinions. Opinions aren't defamatory. *McConkey v. Flathead Elec. Co-op*, 2005 MT 334, ¶ 49, 330 Mont. 48, 125 P.3d 1121. In *McConkey*, a board member wrote letters to newspapers accusing a manager of mismanagement, but this wasn't actionable because it constituted opinion. *Id.* ¶¶ 16, 49. Likewise, statements that Weiner's suspension was because of his own poor performance are non-actionable.

Privilege. A communication is privileged if made without malice to a "person interested." M.C.A. § 27-1-804(3). Thus, a publisher acting without malice can give information to someone in common interest with it, or someone whose important interests are affected by the information. Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 595–596 (1977). For example, "statements of church members made in the course of disciplinary ... proceedings" or of "disfellowship made ... to other Church members interested in the matter" are privileged, even with "incidental communication to non-Church members." *Rasmussen v. Bennett*, 228 Mont. 106, 741 P.2d 755, 758 (1987).

In this case, there's no evidence of malice, and SPH had a common interest

with its staff in ensuring everyone had the information they needed about a fellow employee to effectively do their jobs. And SPH's patients had an important health interest in knowing about potential issues with care.

6. Unfair Trade Practices Act

The district court correctly dismissed Weiner's unfair-trade-practices claim because he failed to support it with anything other than "mere speculation." (Doc. 379, p. 29.) The evidence the parties submitted shows only legitimate motives for the corrective actions, and on appeal Weiner makes no attempt to identify any contrary evidence. Mere suspicion of anti-competitive behavior isn't enough to create a genuine issue for trial. *See Kostelecky*, 2022 MT 195, ¶ 37.

7. Civil Conspiracy

If the Court affirms dismissal of Weiner's other claims, it should affirm dismissal of the civil-conspiracy claim, which by its nature relies on the viability of an underlying tort. *Duffy v. Butte Teachers' Union, No. 332, AFL-CIO*, 168 Mont. 246, 541 P.2d 1199, 251–52 (1975). Its function is to make otherwise non-tortfeasors liable in damages with the tortfeasors. *Id.* If the underlying tort fails, civil conspiracy fails. *Hughes*, 2001 MT 216, ¶ 26.

8. <u>Due Process</u>

If the Court concludes that HCQIA immunity applies, then it should affirm dismissal of the due-process claim because Weiner hasn't argued it as independent

from the statutory analysis. Alternatively, the Court should hold that Weiner received due process.

Confined to HCQIA. Weiner listed "due process" as a separate claim, but he clarified in the district court that he was referring to "due process rights under HCQIA," and he didn't brief Count X independently. (Doc. 309, pp. 14, 15 n.6) (emphasis added). He agreed that, if the professional-review actions complied with HCQIA's standards, then they complied with due process. (Id. p. 3.) And the same holds true on appeal: Weiner makes no due-process argument independent of his interpretation of HCQIA. (Weiner Brief, p. 29.) His argument is that the SPH Defendants must "satisfy § 11112(a)'s due process requirements for immunity to attach." (Id., p. 32.)

Therefore, if HCQIA applies, the Court should dismiss the due-process claim, which Weiner confined to compliance with HCQIA. In other words, Weiner hasn't made an "as-applied" constitutional challenge to HCQIA immunity. *See Broad Reach Power, LLC v. Mont. Dep't of Pub. Serv. Reg.*, 2022 MT 227, ¶ 11, 410 Mont. 450, 520 P.3d 301.

If Weiner argues otherwise in his reply, he failed to preserve the independent constitutional challenge. *See Hanley v. Dep't of Revenue*, 207 Mont. 302, 673 P.2d 1257, 1259 (1983); *Young v. Era Advantage Realty*, 2022 MT 138, ¶ 15, 409 Mont. 234, 513 P.3d 505.

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